



Submission:

Inquiry into Child and Youth Protection Services

August 2019

About ACTCOSS

ACTCOSS acknowledges Canberra has been built on the land of the Ngunnawal people. We pay respects to their Elders and recognise the strength and resilience of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. We celebrate Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures and ongoing contribution to the ACT community.

The ACT Council of Social Service Inc. (ACTCOSS) represents not-for-profit community organisations and advocates for social justice in the ACT.

ACTCOSS is a member of the nationwide COSS Network, made up of each of the state and territory Councils and the national body, the Australian Council of Social Service (ACOSS).

ACTCOSS' vision is for Canberra to be a just, safe and sustainable community in which everyone has the opportunity for self-determination and a fair share of resources and services.

The membership of the Council includes the majority of community-based service providers in the social welfare area, a range of community associations and networks, self-help and consumer groups and interested individuals.

ACTCOSS advises that this document may be publicly distributed, including by placing a copy on our website.

Contact Details

Phone: 02 6202 7200

Address: Weston Community Hub, 1/6 Gritten St, Weston ACT 2611

Email: actcoss@actcoss.org.au

Web: actcoss.org.au
Director: Susan Helyar
Policy Officer: Eliza Moloney

August 2019

ISBN 978-1-876632-73-1 (electronic version)
© Copyright ACT Council of Social Service Incorporated

This publication is copyright, apart from use by those agencies for which it has been produced. Non-profit associations and groups have permission to reproduce parts of this publication as long as the original meaning is retained and proper credit is given to the ACT Council of Social Service Inc (ACTCOSS). All other individuals and Agencies seeking to reproduce material from this publication should obtain the permission of the Director of ACTCOSS.

An ACT Government funded initiative.

Initiative of



Table of contents

Acronyms	4
Introduction	5
Community confidence	7
Transparency	7
Communication with parents, carers, children and young people .	7
Case conferencing	8
Accountability	9
External review model	11
Biases	12
Cultural bias	12
Restorative approach	13
What does a restorative child protection system look like?	14
Removal practices	14
Case Study: Leeds City Council 'Family Valued' program	15

Acronyms

ACTCOSS ACT Council of Social Service Inc.

CYPS Child and Youth Protection Services

OOHC out-of-home care

AFI Advocacy for Inclusion

ACAT ACT Civil and Administrative Tribunal

Introduction

The ACT Council of Social Service (ACTCOSS) has made a submission to the Inquiry into Child and Youth Protection Services as it is of significant interest to several of our members and the wider Canberra community. ACTCOSS members working with children, young people and families who encounter child and youth protection services (CYPS) have been actively engaged in discussions on systems reform. Child protection responses critically inform and influence a range of important life outcomes for young people and at-risk families.

ACTCOSS sees improved administration and confidence in CYPS systems will be achieved by implementing a restorative response and approach that reduces a bias towards removal of children at-risk. We seek a child protection system that is transparent, accountable, human rights compliant, and works in collaboration with the community members it seeks to protect.

ACTCOSS will not be commenting on the individual case of CP v Director-General of Community Services Directorate. However, we welcome the opportunity to identify to the Committee systemic CYPS issues that have been highlighted as undermining the effectiveness of and community confidence in our child protection system. Currently, ACTCOSS sees that the most pressing systemic issues are a lack of transparency and accountability, and we suggest a set of recommendations to address these issues. In addition, ACTCOSS has identified that moving towards a culture within CYPS that values restorative practice is key to improving community confidence, transparency and accountability, and establishing a more person-oriented child protection system.

ACTCOSS notes that the recommendations below, and any other recommendations arising from this Inquiry, must be implemented collaboratively with families, children and young people affected by the child protection system. Lived experience is important on this matter, particularly as our research on this issue has identified that many complainants and clients of CYPS struggle to make their voices heard. In particular, we urge collaboration with CREATE, who have done useful work highlighting the experiences and voices of children and young people in out-of-home care (OOHC).

Recommendations

- Improve the CYPS communication style with parents, carers, children and young people, by providing support for clients to communicate effectively with child protection workers; improving accessibility of communication such as plain-English resources; and providing more clarity over decisions.
- Increase the use of family case conferencing.
- Institute an external review model through the ACT Civil and Administrative Tribunal (ACAT), ensuring potential ACAT Members for CYPS decisions are properly trained.
- Revise CYPS policy and practices to ensure Aboriginal and Torres
 Strait Islander Child Placement Principles are explicitly designed into
 policy and practice.
- Provide ongoing training to CYPS staff on unconscious bias.
- Move towards a restorative practice approach throughout CYPS and embedding restorative practices in workforces that interact with the system, including police and education. Actions include the increase of early support that works with families, particularly Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander families; implementing restorative practices in removal practices; and offering a large-scale training in restorative practices across the workforce.

This submission is based on feedback from:

- Advocacy for Inclusion
- ACT Human Rights Commission
- Canberra Restorative Community Network
- Women's Centre for Health Matters
- ACT Law Society
- CREATE Foundation
- Youth Coalition of the ACT
- Families ACT
- St Vincent de Paul Society Canberra/Goulburn
- Kym Duggan, Social Justice and Advocacy Adviser, St Vincent de Paul Society Canberra/Goulburn
- Legal Aid ACT.

We have also incorporated information gained through our consultations for our submission to the <u>Consultation on Adoption Reform – dispensing with parental consent.</u>

Community confidence

Transparency

A key systemic issue ACTCOSS has identified is the lack of transparency in the child protection system, particularly in relation to communication with families, carers, children and young people.

Responding to the issue of transparency is essential to ensuring community confidence in CYPS. ACTCOSS understands that child protection workers have difficult jobs dealing with sensitive information and a high level of risk. Being tasked with the role of ensuring the safety of children and young people is significant. Nevertheless, organisations who advocate for families, children and young people involved with CYPS have noted to us that current opaque processes do not support family restoration, permanency, or trauma-informed practice; each of these is a stated principle of CYPS.

As noted in Glanfield's Report of the Inquiry: Review into the System Level Responses to Family Violence in the ACT (the Glanfield report):

CYPS must adopt a culture of transparency and engagement with clients, agencies and service providers to inform improved decision making and to engage more effectively with those who provide services to families who come to the notice of CYPS.¹

To increase transparency and community confidence, ACTCOSS recommends that CYPS investigate improving or reforming activities or practices in two areas:

Communication with parents, carers, children and young people

ACTCOSS has spoken to organisations who work with people in contact with CYPS, who note that the system can be difficult to communicate with, compromising the transparency of the process of decision making for their clients. As CREATE noted in their submission on the Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, "accessing formal decision-review processes can involve complicated, structured, and overly formal processes that potentially alienate both young people and their advocates". ACTCOSS has also heard from one organisation assisting women who deal with CYPS, who said that there is inadequate support for women to interact with child protection workers in a way

¹ L Glanfield, Report of the Inquiry: Review into the System Level Responses to Family Violence in the ACT, ACT Government, April 2016, p.78.

² CREATE Foundation, Submission on the Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, CREATE Foundation, June 2019, p.4.

that matches the communication style of CYPS. This difficulty in communication style can exacerbate the trauma of trying to regain care of their children.

Advocacy for Inclusion (AFI) emphasise a lack of transparency, noting that current internal review processes within CYPS are "inaccessible, confusing and jargon-ridden".³ They highlight cases wherein parents with disability have "ticked boxes, under pressure, without full comprehension of the consequences of what they have ticked".⁴ We support AFI's recommendation that CYPS work to ensure an increased accessibility of information provided to families.

This opaque communication style can also influence a lack of clarity over decisions. Some organisations working with people who encounter CYPS state that their clients feel uninformed about why a decision has been made.⁵ As noted by the ACT Human Rights Commission, some of the complaints they receive relate to a complainant seeking a review where decisions "appear to prioritise early decisions and permanency over support and restoration".⁶ The Commission note that the rationale behind a decision is often unclear, including whether the longer-term benefits of a kinship placement were considered, or whether input was sought from community members of staff with relevant "cultural expertise".⁷

CREATE echo this sentiment. They note that there is a significantly greater need to ensure that children and young people are provided with:

sufficient, developmentally appropriate information... young people must have information as to why certain outcomes have been decided within the timeframes, how these are sensitive to the needs of the individual young person, and presented in a way that they can understand.⁸

ACTCOSS affirms CREATE's recommendation that the CYPS principle of trauma-informed practice should extend to the decision-making process, where applying a "trauma-informed understanding to any decision review process, with supporting policy and practice documents, would also ensure that processes of inclusion, open communication, transparency and accountability are enhanced".9

Case conferencing

Case conferencing is a useful mechanism to increase the transparency of the child protection system as it brings families into the otherwise formal decision-making process. ACTCOSS urges CYPS to consider increasing the use of

³ Advocacy for Inclusion, Submission in response to the Review of Child Protection in the ACT, Advocacy for Inclusion, 2019, p.3.

⁴ ibid

⁵ ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, Canberra – becoming a restorative city: Progress Report on community ideas from preliminary consultation, ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, December 2017, p.13.

⁶ ACT Human Rights Commission, Response to the Discussion Paper – 'Review of child protection decisions in the ACT', ACT Human Rights Commission, 2019, p.8.

⁷ ibid

⁸ CREATE Foundation, Submission on the Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, CREATE Foundation, June 2019, p.3.

⁹ ibid., p.4.

conferencing, as an "empowering, participatory and proven practice model" that enhances the participation and inclusion of the system.

We note the Glanfield report's recommendation that CYPS increase the use of case conferencing, to ensure decision making is "more fully informed and is done on a transparent and collaborative basis with government, non-government agencies and families".¹¹

However, in increasing conferencing, we caution that placements arising from this process should not result in less support provided to carers, than which is offered through formal placement. The ACT Human Rights Commission notes:

vulnerable families should not be placed in a position of having to decide between using restorative family group conference practices on the one hand, and having placements within the extended family or kinship group adequately financially supported after formal intervention by CYPS on the other hand. ¹²

Accountability

ACTCOSS is pleased to see that effective scrutiny and accountability in decision making are mentioned in the Terms of Reference of this Inquiry. In particular, we emphasise the importance of implementing recommendations from the Glanfield report. ACTCOSS believes it is fundamental that there is an external review process for all CYPS decisions, as recommended by Glanfield:

A review should be undertaken of what decisions made by CYPS should be subject to either internal or external merits review... Merits review is where a new decision maker makes a fresh decision on the merits of the case trying to ensure the decision is fair and reasonable. Certain decisions set out in section 839 of the Children and Young People Act 2008 (CYP Act) such as refusal to approve a residential care organisation, refusal to authorise a person as a kinship carer or as an approved carer can be reviewed by the ACT Civil and Administrative Tribunal (ACAT). Certain other important decisions that are not merits reviewable (i.e. reviewable by ACAT) in the ACT, are merits reviewable in other jurisdictions such as Victoria and Queensland. 13

As provided for by the *Children and Young People Act 2008* (ACT), the Director-General of the CYPS can apply for a care and protection order through the Children's Court, which the Court may issue after reviewing the Director-General's care plan. ¹⁴ This plan can contain life-altering decisions about a

¹⁰ M Ivec and F Tito Wheatland, *Moving to a restorative and relationally based child protection system in the ACT*, Australian National University, June 2014, p.2.

¹¹ L Glanfield, *Report of the Inquiry: Review into the System Level Responses to Family Violence in the ACT*, ACT Government, April 2016, p.93.

¹² ACT Human Rights Commission, Response to the Discussion Paper – 'Review of child protection decisions in the ACT', ACT Human Rights Commission, 2019, p.9.

¹³ L Glanfield, Report of the Inquiry: Review into the System Level Responses to Family Violence in the ACT, ACT Government, April 2016, p.74.

¹⁴ Legal Aid ACT, Submission on Review of Systemic Responses to Family Violence in the ACT, Legal Aid ACT, 2016, pp.2-3.

child's long-term care, but the Act does not compel the Director-General to comply with the care plan, which can be changed by officers within CYPS.

Section 839 of the Act sets out what decisions are reviewable. It outlines that decisions such as refusals to approve a person as an approved carer, or to renew a person as an approved carer, are reviewable decisions. However, as noted by Legal Aid ACT¹⁵ and the ACT Law Society¹⁶ this list is incomplete and does not include important decisions impacting a child's life, including:

- Where the child will live
- Who a child can have contact with
- Decisions about the education and training of the child.

The lack of transparency around these life-changing decisions is unacceptable, particularly considering the ongoing concerns that current internal review mechanisms are insufficient. The As noted by the Our Booris Our Way Steering Committee, "there are many decisions that cannot be appealed that have significant impact on our families". Indeed, the ACT Human Rights Commission note that an external review mechanism is important to address community concerns about bias or systemic discrimination. An external review mechanism would ensure accountability for many decisions that are not currently available for review.

ACTCOSS emphasises the ACT Law Society's point that, on the issue of an external review:

It is common sense and also respect for due process, that a decision that is made internally by an organisation, such as CYPS, should be open to review by external measures.²⁰

٠

¹⁵ ibid.

¹⁶ ACT Law Society Family Violence and Children's Committee, Submissions prepared by the ACT Family Violence and Children's Committee on the Discussion Paper prepared by the Justice and Community Safety Directorate (in consultation with the Community Services Directorate) dated April 2019 regarding Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, ACT Law Society, 2019, pp.2-3.

¹⁷ See: CREATE Foundation, Submission on the Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, CREATE Foundation, June 2019, pp.4-5; ACT Law Society Family Violence and Children's Committee, Submissions prepared by the ACT Family Violence and Children's Committee on the Discussion Paper prepared by the Justice and Community Safety Directorate (in consultation with the Community Services Directorate) dated April 2019 regarding Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, ACT Law Society, 2019, p.2.

¹⁸ Our Booris Our Way Steering Committee, Communique #14, Our Booris Our Way, May 2019, viewed 25 August 2019, https://www.strongfamilies.act.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0007/1364677/Communique-Our-Booris-Our-Way-14.pdf>.

¹⁹ ACT Human Rights Commission, Response to the Discussion Paper – 'Review of child protection decisions in the ACT', ACT Human Rights Commission, 2019, p.8.

²⁰ ACT Law Society Family Violence and Children's Committee, Submissions prepared by the ACT Family Violence and Children's Committee on the Discussion Paper prepared by the Justice and Community Safety Directorate (in consultation with the Community Services Directorate) dated April 2019 regarding Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, ACT Law Society, 2019, p.4.

External review model

ACTCOSS agrees with the ACT Law Society's recommendation that the ACT institute an external review model like the mechanism in Queensland.²¹ The ACT Civil and Administrative Tribunal would offer appropriate external review, given its existing powers. This option would also be timelier than establishing a new review panel.

We also highlight that the Queensland system has a fundamental principle that caring for children will be a shared responsibility across government agencies, service providers, communities, businesses and industry.²² This commitment adds an important layer of accountability and expresses that child protection is everyone's responsibility.

However, the current process of going before ACAT can be difficult for some complainants, and there are several ways it could be strengthened to ensure it can act as a robust external review mechanism for families and children. ACTCOSS notes that:

- People going before ACAT need more appropriate supports to navigate the process. AFI noted to ACTCOSS that people with a disability have experienced frustration going before ACAT due to the inaccessibility of the supporting documents, and ACAT members engaging and communicating poorly with people with disabilities. ACTCOSS notes that advocacy organisations that assist people to go before ACAT will need additional funding to support ACAT processes
- Proper training must be given to potential ACAT Members who could oversee CYPS cases. As mentioned by the ACT Law Society, potential ACAT Members overseeing cases for external review should be offered training on child protection matters.²³
- CREATE has said that ACAT requires amendments to ensure proper communication with children and young people to enable their full and informed participation.²⁴ This includes providing children and young people with information (verbally and in writing) that can be easily understood and without jargon; and ensuring young people are not disadvantaged if they do not have access to a phone or the internet to initiate a review, or literacy skills. ACAT should use child-friendly language and diverse methods to distribute information.²⁵

22 Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women, Sharing responsibility for children's safety and wellbeing, Queensland Government, viewed 26 August 2019, https://www.csyw.qld.gov.au/child-family/child-family-reform/sharing-responsibility-childrens-safety-wellbeing.

11

²¹ ibid, p.5.

²³ ACT Law Society Family Violence and Children's Committee, Submissions prepared by the ACT Family Violence and Children's Committee on the Discussion Paper prepared by the Justice and Community Safety Directorate (in consultation with the Community Services Directorate) dated April 2019 regarding Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, ACT Law Society, 2019, p.4.

²⁴ CREATE Foundation, Submission on the Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, CREATE Foundation, June 2019, p.7.

²⁵ ibid.

Biases

As identified in our submission to the Consultation on Adoption Reform – dispensing with parental consent, there are several population groups in the ACT that are at greater risk of adverse experiences with CYPS. Due to overrepresentation within the child protection system, risks of stigma and discrimination, lack of trust in the service system, and a lack of support, there are certain families, children and young people who will experience greater harm from an opaque child protection system without appropriate accountability mechanisms. These include:

- Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander children and young people
- Children and young people with incarcerated parents
- Children and young people with parents with a disability.

Cultural bias

Cultural bias is a significant systemic issue within the child protection system. Of note and concern is the rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in out-of-home care in the ACT in the last 10 years. That rate has increased from 33.1/1000 children in 2008-9 to 90.1/1000 in 2016-17.²⁶ The increase in the actual numbers of children in out of home care in the ACT was from 81 in 2007-8 to 227 in 2016-17.²⁷

ACTCOSS endorses and draws the Committee's attention to the recommendation put forth by the Our Booris Our Way Steering Committee in August 2018:

Our Booris Our Way Recommendation 3: Revision of Policy and Practice

That Child and Youth Protection Services (CYPS) immediately commence revision of policy and practices to ensure that the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child Placement Principles are explicitly designed into policy and practice. Children must be valued in a process that holds cultural rights as central to their identity and safety. We believe that this will hold children as central and valued within the child protection process and demonstrate closer alignment to our cultural rights as described in the ACT Human Rights Act 2004 [Section 27 (2)]. We note that Minister Stephen-Smith has already signed up to the Family Matters commitment which includes the application and implementation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Child Placement Principle (September 2017).²⁸

²⁶ Productivity Commission, *Report on Government Services 2018* Chapter 16 Child Protection Services @ table 16A.2.

²⁷ ibid

²⁸ Our Booris Our Way Steering Committee, *Interim Report*, August 2018, Canberra, Our Booris Our Way Steering Committee, p.3.

In addition, ACTCOSS affirms the following system improvements suggested by the ACT Human Rights Commission:

Other improvements to the system include the need to provide ongoing training to CYPS staff on culture and unconscious bias. More funding should also be provided to Aboriginal community-controlled organisations to provide early support to families. Further, we believe there should be consideration of clearer requirements for CSD to consult with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people who have an interest in the wellbeing of a child or young person through kinship, family and cultural ties.²⁹

Finally, we note that in 2016 the Glanfield report also highlighted the ongoing issue of cultural bias in CYPS, stating that CSD "should continue to review its recruitment practices and cultural awareness training programs and ensure appropriate quality control in decision making to reduce unintended bias".³⁰

Restorative approach

Through our consultation on this issue, ACTOSS has identified that in addition to specific transparency and accountability measures and mechanisms that can be introduced to increase community confidence in CYPS, there is ongoing community concern about the operating culture. Specifically, that improvements in outcomes for people in contact with CYPS require a paradigm shift to facilitate a more restorative child protective system.

It is important to consider the overall culture of child protection in the ACT alongside the recommendations as suggested above. As CREATE note in their recommendation of an external review mechanism:

we are cautious to ensure that we are not simply creating another level of bureaucracy... any new mechanism [must add] value to the outcomes sought for, and by, children and young people in OOHC, and ensures that children and young people's views, needs, and wishes are at the centre of services and systems.³¹

The current formal bureaucratic structure of CYPS does not facilitate this aim, and that there must be a concerted effort to moving towards a restorative child protection system, in line with the goal of Canberra becoming a Restorative City.

²⁹ H Watchirs, J Griffiths-Cook, K Toohey, H Yates, *Transparency needed about care and protection of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children*, Canberra Times, May 2019, viewed 25 August 2019, https://www.canberratimes.com.au/story/6113090/transparency-needed-about-care-and-protection-of-aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-children/>.

³⁰ L Glanfield, Report of the Inquiry: Review into the System Level Responses to Family Violence in the ACT, ACT Government, April 2016, p.78.

³¹ CREATE Foundation, Submission on the Review of Child Protection Decisions in the ACT, CREATE Foundation, June 2019, p.10.

What does a restorative child protection system look like?

The ACT Law Reform Advisory Council identifies that a common restorative framework for the ACT could include the following common components:

- Certainty about government decisions being made through processes which comply with natural justice
- Transparent decision-making (such as reviewable written reasons for decisions)
- External review, with early access to restorative meditation
- Complains and concerns have the opportunity for restorative resolution.³²

In the specific context of CYPS, restorative practice in policy and procedure "describes reaching an outcome in a restorative way. A 'restorative outcome' is one reached in ways that are collaborative, transparent and accountable".³³ Restorative child protection does not mean always restoring a family unit.³⁴

Restorative child protection practices have informed the recommendations mentioned above. For example, an external review mechanism is a restorative practice as it allows affected people to state their concerns before an independent body. Our recommendation of more family group conferencing is also a restorative process as it allows for collaborative decision making. As outlined below, there are additional actions that CYPS could take to move towards a restorative child protection system.

Removal practices

As noted in our submission to the Adoption Reform consultation – dispending with parental consent, ACTCOSS has heard concerning accounts of families at risk of unnecessary removal of children and young people due to discrimination and lack of support within the child protection system.³⁵ This is affirmed by Tito Wheatland and Ivec, who note that in some cases, families with support needs come to the attention of CYPS and are met with an adversarial system, rather than a restorative approach that seeks to address these needs.³⁶ As an alternative to this process, Tito Wheatland and Ivec identify the following trilevel restorative practice process:

1. Participation and inclusion. This requires child protection to work together with families, children and young people, and carers.

³² F Tito Wheatland, *Bright Ideas – from people, places and research: Canberra on the journey to become a restorative city,* ACT Law Reform Advisory Council, 2018, pp.19-24.

³³ ibid, p.15.

³⁴ ibid.

³⁵ ACTCOSS, Submission: Consultation on Adoption Reform: dispensing with parental consent, ACTCOSS, April 2019, pp.8-11.

³⁶ M Ivec and F Tito Wheatland, *Moving to a restorative and relationally based child protection system in the ACT*, Australian National University, June 2014, p.1.

- 2. Effective communication, listening, respecting rights, shared decision-making for solutions. This requires child protection to commit to involving all parties in the last-resort decision to remove a child.
- 3. Sustained support and time to change.³⁷

Case Study: Leeds City Council 'Family Valued' program

As part of its commitment to becoming a Restorative City, Leeds City Council introduced a system change program, 'Family Valued'. The program is a large-scale approach to embedding restorative practice as the default approach to child protection. It was guided by the following theory of change:

Children live in families, families create communities and communities create cities, so by investing in strong and stable families we can create the conditions for a more successful city. An important part of doing this is ensuring that when families are experiencing difficulties and a child within the family is vulnerable, the support that is put in place works with the family to find sustainable solutions and empowers that family to find the strength to change.³⁸

There were three core activities:

- Awareness Raising and Deep Dive training to embed restorative practice across the workforce for children, families and communities;
- Expansion of Family Group Conferences to more families including those affected by domestic violence; and
- Newly commissioned services to address gaps in provision for families.³⁹

In an evaluation of Family Valued, it was found that the restorative practice training reached 5913 attendees and 1392 Deep Dive attendees, including employees from outside Leeds City Council children's services, such as Schools, Housing, and Police.⁴⁰ The evaluation noted qualitative evidence of "cultural change", as it produced a common language and approach across the difference partners and participants in the training.⁴¹

More specifically, Family Valued was found to have embedded restorative practice in social work, resulting in "more open, harmonious and skilled social work practitioners and teams". 42 180 social workers participated in a Deep Dive

41 ibid.

³⁷ M Ivec and F Tito Wheatland, *Moving to a restorative and relationally based child protection system in the ACT*, Australian National University, June 2014, p.2.

³⁸ Leeds City Council, *One minute guide: Family Valued – Innovation programme*, Leeds City Council, 2015, viewed 26 August 2019, https://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/98%20-%20Family%20Valued.pdf>.

³⁹ ICF, Family Valued Evaluation Summary, ICF, 2016, viewed 25 August 2019, https://innovationcsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/1.2.50-Family-Valued-Leeds-Evaluation-Summary.pdf.

⁴⁰ ibid.

⁴² ibid.

training, to 'widen' and 'deepen' restorative practice.⁴³ The evaluation impact analysis found statistically significant reductions in number of looked after children; number of child protection plans; and number of children in need.⁴⁴

"Recommendations for local authorities considering restorative practice" from the *Family Valued Evaluation Summary*

- Effective restorative practice outside individual services requires wider system change that is led effectively
- Family group conferences are an effective rights-based process for empowering families with a range of needs, which can increase the likelihood of children remaining in the care of birth family networks. They can be used to address families' problems early as well as within statutory child protection
- Social work can be restorative practice that delivers improved outcomes. To achieve this requires a systemic approach from restorative leadership to front line practice⁴⁵

⁴³ ibid.

⁴⁴ ibid.

⁴⁵ ibid.